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Poplar Grove and the Emorys: 

A preliminary history, subject to revision, by Adam Goodheart

June 1, 2008

Introductory note

A first-time visitor to Poplar Grove may think that it has been frozen in time since the 18th century: the old manor house, the outbuildings, the ancient boxwoods and family cemetery all evoke many generations of permanence and self-containment – almost a dream undisturbed by history. 

But in fact, the farm that is Poplar Grove has been in constant flux throughout the past 340 years. Its name has changed; its ownership has passed through many hands; its boundaries have shifted repeatedly, growing and shrinking, breaking apart and coming together again. Old proprietors have gone and new ones have intermarried with other families, split the estate among heirs, sold off land and then reacquired it.

Like the manor house itself – a fabulous hodgepodge of architectural tastes spanning three centuries – Poplar Grove embodies the dynamic change and constantly renewed ambition that are America’s characteristic heritage. And it has always been tied in many ways to the world beyond, even far beyond. Those who have lived there have had roles to play in many important chapters of the country’s history: the American Revolution, the War of 1812, the debate over slavery, the Industrial Revolution, the Gold Rush, the Civil War, the rise of the United States as a global economic power. Some family members stuck close to the ancestral soil; others ventured thousands of miles from home. And while a few succeeded brilliantly in their ambitions, others did their best but failed.

What follows is simply an attempt to provide some useful facts – of genealogy, chronology, and basic biography – that may be a useful framework for putting the family papers at Poplar Grove into context. These facts are just preliminary and should all be considered open to drastic revision. And even when accurate, the somewhat dry data should not be confused with history. They are barren of most meaningful details and perspective, and enormous areas of the picture – such as the many African-American families who have lived at Poplar Grove – are totally bare. 

It is the papers themselves that hold, still unrevealed, the secrets of many intertwined lives, and it is through them that the dry bones can come to life.

-A.G.

I. Poplar Grove

The farm known as Poplar Grove, ancestral home of the Emorys, lies on Spaniard Neck, a peninsula on the south side of the Chester River in Queen Anne’s County, just above the mouth of the Corsica River, a.k.a. Corsica Creek. (Historically, this was part of the “Corsica District” of Queen Anne’s County.) 

Although it comprised a number of farms that had been surveyed and settled as early as the late 1600s, the Poplar Grove estate was assembled only in the early 19th century through the consolidation of these properties. An 1857 survey refers to “several tracts called ‘Brampton,’ ‘Conquest,’ &c., now reduced [i.e., combined] into one tract called ‘Poplar Grove.’” The property as a whole was then 608 acres.
 Other tracts that formed part of Poplar Grove included Cintra (or Sintra), Bishop’s Outlet, Smith’s Mistake, and Larrington (or Larington). The name “Poplar Grove” has not been found used until the time of Gen. Thomas Emory (1782-1842).
 

On the accompanying 1857 plat, Poplar Grove is shown as bounded on the northwest side by the Chester River, on the northeast side by the estate called Readbourne (home of the prominent Hollyday family since c. 1731), on the east side by the road to the village of Church Hill, on the southeast side by a body of water called Bishop’s Cove (later known as Emory Creek or Emory’s Cove), and on the southwest side by land belonging to William Emory. Most of these remain important landmarks today. (See Section VII, “Maps”).

The name Spaniard Neck has been in use since at least 1711 to describe the peninsula on which Poplar Grove lies.
 At one time, the point at the tip of the neck was known as Coursey’s Point, and this name appears in some documents as early as 1650.

Poplar Grove has shrunk since the 19th century through inheritances and sales, and may now be less than a quarter its former size. By family tradition (which the documents seem to support) the tract now called Poplar Grove, the “home farm” with the Emorys’ historic manor house, is the one that was originally called Brampton. The early history of that property follows in the next section.

II.   Brampton

Brampton was granted by Lord Baltimore to William Hemsley I in 1669.
 The property lay then within the bounds of Talbot County, becoming part of Queen Anne’s County in 1706.

The original land grant to William Hemsley was for 250 acres. Since the present-day Poplar Grove measures just over 250 acres, it is quite likely that this modern farm occupies the same boundaries as the original 17th-century Brampton.

William Hemsley (c. 1633-1685) was an important and successful early settler of the middle Eastern Shore who was granted a number of tracts of land in the area. He served as clerk of the Talbot County Court for many years beginning in 1668.
 He is referred to in some early records as “Dr. William Hemsley” and others as “Capt. William Hemsley.” 

The name Brampton (sometimes spelled “Brompton,” “Bromton,” etc. in early documents, which likely reflects its original pronunciation) probably derives from the village of Brompton in Kent, England. The English Brompton lies about 20 miles away from the village of Sundridge in Kent, where William Hemsley was born.

Sometime in the late 17th century, the Brampton property passed into the Hawkins family – whether by sale, inheritance or otherwise is uncertain.

In 1693, John Hawkins demised (i.e., leased) to William Coursey his "plantation dwelling house and other out houses Orchards Gardens and two hundred and fifty Acres of land and other appurtenances thereunto belonging Scituate lying and being on the South side of Chester river in Talbott County Aforesaid called Brampton."
 This is the earliest known mention of any house or other structures on the farm.

(Colonel John Hawkins [c.1655-1717] acquired extensive landed estates and was prominent in public affairs. In 1694 he was a County Commissioner for Talbot County, Justice of the Provincial Court of Maryland, 1698, and represented Queen Anne’s County in the Assembly, 1714 to 1717. A communion service of silver, presented by him to St. Paul's Church, is still used in that church, and is evidence of the family’s wealth. The tankard bears the inscription: “The Gift of Colonel John Hawkins, 1717,” while on the chalice is inscribed: “The Gift of Collonell John Hawkins of Chester River in Maryland 1716.” Ernault Hawkins, the son of John, completed the service by the gift of a paten on which is inscribed: “The Gift of Ernault Hawkins.”)

Ownership of Brampton – as well as the adjacent farm called Conquest – passed out of the Hawkins family shortly after Colonel John’s death. But some of the Hawkinses may have kept living on the property, since a 1739 document describes it as the “dwelling plantation” of Ernault Hawkins (grandson of John) and his wife, Jane, who reacquired title in that year. 

The Hawkinses seem to have had trouble holding onto the property, since in 1749 they sold off half of the Brampton tract, which ended up in the hands of the Brown family.
 Ten years later, Jane Hawkins sold the remaining part of Brampton to one David Register, described in early deeds as a “Blacksmith” of Queen Anne’s County.
 By the 1760s, David Register, in transactions with the Hawkinses and others, had acquired much of the land on Spaniard Neck (including Conquest) that would become Poplar Grove. It was through this ambitious blacksmith that this land would soon enter the Emory family.

David Register’s wife, Margaret (1715-1764), was herself a member of the Hawkins clan, as the daughter of Elizabeth Hawkins (Colonel John’s daughter) and Thomas Marsh. By the time she married David Register in 1740, Margaret had been divorced or separated from one Charles Emory (c. 1710-after 1763), who had abandoned his wife around 1735.
 (Or it is possible that the two had had an out-of-wedlock liaison.)

The forsaken Margaret brought to her new marriage a five-year-old son who was named John Emory. David Register adopted this fatherless boy as his son, and the boy took the name John Register Emory. David’s will, dated December 1767 and probated the following month, refers to John Register Emory among “my children,” and names him as executor. David had already granted his share of Brampton to John in 1762, and in his will he bequeathed Conquest to John’s two sons, along with three other grandchildren. 

John Register Emory also married one of the Hawkinses, Juliatha, in 1758 (she died three years later), so it is possible he acquired some of the Spaniard Neck lands this way.

The 1783 Tax Assessment for Queen Anne’s County refers to John Register Emory as owning a number of the properties that would later form Poplar Grove, including Brampton, Conquest, Larrington, and Bishop’s Outlet – totaling 588 acres. His share of Brampton is still given as only 126 acres, however – the other 124 belonged to Edward Brown.

It was not until the time of John’s son, Gen. Thomas Emory (1782-1842) that Brampton’s 250 acres were finally reunited in Emory hands. In 1818, Thomas purchased the remaining half of the original tract from the Brown heirs. Around the same time, he consolidated his Spaniard Neck properties into a single estate that he grandly renamed Poplar Grove.
 

From the early 19th century to the present, the property appears to have descended by inheritance through the Emory family, as detailed in the next section.

III.  Chain of Title for Brampton/Poplar Grove

1669 William Hemsley (c. 1633-1685) receives Brampton, 250 acres, by proprietary grant from Lord Baltimore

*before 1693 Col. John Hawkins (c.1655-1717) purchases Brampton from Hemsleys (?)

1719 Richard and Mary Cole purchase Brampton from the Hawkins heirs

1724-1734 The Coles sell Brampton piece by piece to Solomon Clayton

1739 Solomon Clayton, Jr, inherits Brampton from his father, above, along with the adjacent property, Conquest (394 acres)

1739 Solomon Clayton, Jr. releases Brampton to Ernault Hawkins (c. 1710-1755?) and his wife, Jane Cole Hawkins, who are described as already dwelling on the property (possible mortgage release)

1749 Brampton is subdivided by the Hawkinses into two nearly equal halves, with 124 acres of the property acquired by Absalom Sparks

1753 Absalom Sparks sells his 124 acres to Edward Brown

1759 David Register (?-1767) purchases remaining 126 acres of Brampton from Jane Hawkins

1762 John Register Emory (1735-1790) acquires these 126 acres of Brampton from his adoptive father, David Register, by purchase or gift. Around this time, he is also acquiring other lands in Spaniard’s Neck, including Conquest, Larington and Bishop’s Outlet

1791 Thomas Emory (1782-1842) inherits 126 acres of Brampton (the “dwelling plantation”), along with other lands, from his father, above

1818 Thomas Emory purchases the other 124 acres of Brampton from the Brown heirs, and the property is reunited for the first time in nearly 70 years

[Brampton becomes consolidated with other farms and named Poplar Grove]
1842 William Hemsley Emory (1811-1887), John Register Emory (1818-1880), and Blanchard Emory (1831-?) inherit Poplar Grove from their father, above

1850s John Register Emory purchases his brothers’ shares in Poplar Grove (?)

1880 Edward Bourke Emory (1849-1924) inherits the farm from his father, above

[sometime in this period Poplar Grove begins again to subdivide]

1924 Henrietta Tilghman Emory (1855-1953), by inheritance (or possibly earlier purchase) from her husband, above

1953 Lloyd Tilghman Emory, Jr. (1921-1999), by inheritance from his grandmother, above

1999 James Wood (born 1961), by inheritance from his cousin, above

IV. The Emory Family

Arthur Emory, Sr. (c. 1640-1699, known as “The Immigrant”) arrived in Maryland in the 1660s, reputedly from Somersetshire, England. (His name is often spelled “Emery” or “Emmery” in early documents.) In 1667-8 he is said to have received from Lord Baltimore several land grants on the Wye, Choptank, and Chester rivers on the Eastern Shore of the Chesapeake Bay. Arthur’s descendants soon began prospering, proliferating, and spreading across the Eastern Shore and beyond, as they continue to do. They also intermarried, often repeatedly, with other prominent local families (Tilghmans, Hemsleys, Hawkinses, et al.; see Section V below). Their family tree – often confusing, with the same or similar names repeated from generation to generation – exemplifies what has been called the “tangled cousinry” of the early Chesapeake.

The original immigrant Arthur had three wives and at least seven surviving children, and the family’s early genealogy is very hard to unravel. However, direct ancestors of the Poplar Grove Emorys appear to have included John Emory (c. 1685-1763), a son of Arthur the Immigrant. This John Emory served as Lord Baltimore’s Deputy Surveyor and Collector of Quit Rents in 1726, and may have been the same John Emory who in 1750-1 helped survey the boundary line between the lands of the Calverts (Maryland) and those of the Penns (Pennsylvania/Delaware). 

John’s ne’er-do-well son Charles (c. 1710-after 1763) fathered several children with Margaret Marsh before abandoning her in the late 1730s.

Charles and Margaret’s son, John Register Emory (1735-1790), great-grandson of Arthur the Immigrant, is the first Emory documented as having owned Brampton.

Brief biographical sketches of some of the Emorys who lived at Poplar Grove follow. Much information is taken from Frederick Emory’s History of Queen Anne’s County unless otherwise noted.

Generation 1:

John Register Emory (1735-1790) Abandoned by his biological father as an infant. Acquired half of Brampton in 1762 from his adoptive father, David Register (see above). Also inherited or bought a number of surrounding farms on Spaniard Neck (e.g., Larington and Bishop’s Outlet, which he bought from John Raley in 1761). In late 1776 he was commissioned Captain of the Militia in Queen Anne’s County, which would be renewed the following year; he resigned by 1780.
 In 1779 he was appointed a justice of the peace for Queen Anne’s County.  

He married Juliatha Hawkins
 in 1758 and the couple had one son, Robert (1759-1813). Juliatha (sometimes referred to as Juliana) died in 1761 and in 1765 John remarried to Ann Costin, by whom he had at least seven children (John, Margaret, Ann, Richard, Elizabeth, William, Thomas).
 Ann died in 1802.

John Register Emory is listed in the 1790 Census as owning 23 slaves.

Generation 2:

Gen. Thomas Emory (1782-1842) The Emory estate appears to have reached its largest physical extent and greatest prosperity during his long ownership. Many, if not most, of the family papers also date from his lifetime. In keeping with his personal and political ambitions, Thomas consolidated various Emory tracts and new land purchases into a single estate that he grandly named Poplar Grove. 

Youngest child of John Register Emory and Ann Costin Emory; his father died when Thomas was eight years old. Thomas seems to have studied for a career in the law, possibly with the Centreville attorney (later Judge) Richard Tilghman Earle (1765-1843).
  

Thomas began as a young man to be active in the militia. In 1807, he was commissioned first lieutenant of a local cavalry troop.
 Around the outbreak of the War of 1812, he became major of the “First Troop, Queen Anne’s True Republican Blues.”
 In this capacity, he commanded a detachment of 100 cavalrymen that rode to defend the county when British marines who attacked Queenstown in August 1813. Under fire from this far superior invading force, Emory’s men hastily retreated to Centreville.
 This wartime record sufficed for Thomas to eventually become general of the state militia.

Besides being a military participant, Thomas Emory was an enthusiastic political supporter of the War of 1812. At a Fourth of July celebration during the first summer of the conflict, he was among the hosts when a toast was offered that the war should be prosecuted “with alacrity, activity, energy, to a glorious termination.”

Thomas Emory was elected to the House of Delegates as a Democratic-Republican (the party supporting President Madison) in 1810, serving through the 1814 session. In 1816 he was proposed as a democratic candidate for U.S. Congress, but withdrew.
 From 1822-1824 he served as a member of the Governor’s Council. In 1822 and 1824 he was again a candidate for Congress, losing both races (the second time, running against John Leeds Kerr, by just 20 votes). In 1824, he was a member of the delegation from Queen Anne’s County that welcomed the Marquis de Lafayette to Annapolis. In 1825, he was elected to the state Senate, but lost the following year. In 1831 he was elected again, serving this time until 1836, and taking a very active role in many issues of statewide politics.

By the 1830s, seemingly disenchanted with the direction of Democratic politics under Andrew Jackson’s leadership, Emory became an avid member of the new Whig Party. In 1834, when Ezekiel F. Chambers retired from the U.S. Senate, Emory (a close friend of Senator Chambers) was a leading candidate to succeed him, but was bested by Robert H. Goldsborough.

General Emory was an energetic, ambitious, forceful, and well-connected man, who knew and corresponded with many leading state and national figures, setting his sights repeatedly – though without success – on political office in Washington. An avid reader  (many of his books survive at Poplar Grove), he was interested in new technologies and farming methods. A breeder of racehorses, Thomas Emory established Poplar Grove as a stud farm known to breeders throughout the United States, and seems to have made a good deal of money at this enterprise. He served terms as president of the Maryland Agricultural Society and as vice-president of the 1841 Maryland Colonization Convention, a meeting in support of sending free blacks to Liberia.

The 1830s were a decade when many Americans – Whigs especially – were embracing new technologies, such as railroads, that promised to narrow the vast distances of the new nation. In this context, General Emory launched what would become the most passionate undertaking of his life: the effort to construct a railway line down the Delmarva peninsula, linking the Eastern Shore to Baltimore via the north end of the Bay. Lt. Col. James Kearney of the U.S. Topographical Corps was appointed engineer of the project and laid out a route from the head of the Chesapeake to the Virginia state line. Thomas Emory, who had urged the building of the line in a series of newspaper articles published in the Easton Gazette, became president of the railroad commission. However, the stumbling block was money. In the spring of 1837, Thomas Emory (along with John Buchanan and George Peabody) was sent by the state to London to negotiate an $8 million loan for the railroad and other “internal improvements” in Maryland. However, the worldwide Panic of 1837 foiled their plans, and they returned empty-handed. By the late 1830s, with only a few miles of track actually completed, the new line was abandoned. (When the Eastern Shore finally did get its own railway lines - not until the 1870s - these were few and far between, and connected to Philadelphia, not Baltimore.)

Still, General Emory retained enough prestige and popularity to be a leading candidate for U.S. Senate again in 1840. A writer in the Baltimore American (a Whig paper) opined:

As a politician he (Gen. Emory) has always been firm and consistent; his views of our domestic policy both with regard to the State and National governments have been liberal and enlightened; of untiring industry and honest in purpose he has through a long career pursued the even tenor of his way; amid all the changes of party he has never wavered; neither has he ever sacrificed avowed principles on the shrine of popular favor. During a public service of many years that which he believed to be the true interests of his country has been the polar star that guided his course …. Indeed, there are few gentlemen in Maryland, if any, whose public services are more advantageously known or whose private worth is more highly esteemed.

Notwithstanding this encomium, Emory was edged out once again for high office by his old rival John Leeds Kerr. He died less than two years later, in August 1842, during a summer visit to the popular resort at Old Point Comfort, Va.

Thomas Emory married Anna Maria Hemsley and had at least eleven children (Ann, Sally, Thomas, William H., Henrietta, Robert, John Register, Albert, Augusta, Frederick, and Blanchard.).

In the 1810 Census, Thomas Emory is listed as owning 32 slaves; by 1840, 47.

Anna Maria Hemsley Emory (1787-1864) Wife of Gen. Thomas Emory. Daughter of William Hemsley, a prominent Revolutionary leader and member of the Continental Congress. Born at Cloverfields, the Hemsley plantation near Wye Mills, she married Thomas Emory in 1805 and moved to Poplar Grove. A good deal of her correspondence survives at Poplar Grove, including some three dozen letters written to her before her marriage by her brother, Alexander Hemsley (c. 1785-?).

Generation 3:

Ann Emory (1806-1845) Eldest child of Thomas and Anna Maria. Married Dr. William Henry Thomas and seems to have died childless.

Sarah Hemsley Emory (1808-?) Second daughter of Thomas and Anna Maria, known as Sally. Married William Cooke Tilghman.

Thomas Alexander Emory (1809-?) Eldest son and third child of Thomas and Anna Maria. Married Mary Sloughton Winder. May have died before his father.

Gen. William Hemsley Emory (1811-1887) Second eldest son of Thomas and Anna Maria. Picked out early for a military career, he secured an appointment to West Point in the Class of 1831, reputedly through the influence of his father’s friend John C. Calhoun. At the military academy he acquired the nickname “Bold Emory,” and became acquainted with a number of fellow cadets who achieved later fame, such as Robert E. Lee, Jefferson Davis
, Joseph E. Johnston, and Henry Clay, Jr. William had mixed feelings about his father’s string-pulling on his behalf, which secured him preferment in the Corps of Cadets: understandably, he was anxious to succeed on his own merits.

After graduation from the Academy, William was commissioned a second lieutenant of artillery, later joining the Topographical Engineers. Clearly a dashing and popular young man (renowned for his luxuriant red muttonchop whiskers), he married Matilda Bache, a well-connected Philadelphian and great-granddaughter of Benjamin Franklin.

At the outbreak of the Mexican War in 1846, William was assigned as a topographical officer to the First Dragoons, commanded by Gen. Stephen W. Kearny, and participated in the conquest of New Mexico and California, including the Battle of San Pascual. En route, he also mapped the territory from Fort Leavenworth to the Pacific coast, and in 1848 published a report, Notes of a Military Reconnaissance from Fort Leavenworth, in Missouri, to San Diego, in California, which would become one of the most important early works on the American Southwest. From 1848 to 1853, he supervised the boundary survey of the new border between the U.S. and Mexico.

When the Civil War erupted, Lt. Col. Emory, then serving in Indian Territory, was torn in his loyalties between the North and the South; he did not want to commit an act of treason, but was clearly swayed by pro-Southern ties and by his friendships with men like Davis and Johnston. In a still-debated episode, he submitted a letter of resignation (by accident, he later said), which he quickly attempted to withdraw. Successful in this, he went on to lead Union cavalry troops in a number of important engagements in both the Western and Eastern theaters of the war. He retired from the Army in 1876 with the rank of major general.

At his father’s death in 1842, William H. Emory had inherited a share of Poplar Grove, but in the 1850s, as it became apparent that his military career would keep him far from Maryland, he proposed selling this share to his younger brother John for $8000. William and John had a tempestuous relationship. William clearly relied on John for many business and personal matters, yet the two also feuded, sometimes quite rancorously.

Significant collections of William’s papers are at Yale and at the University of Maryland, as well as in the National Archives. Much more detail on his career is available in a recent scholarly biography, William H. Emory: Soldier-Scientist, by L. David Norris et al. (U. of Arizona, 1998). However, the book was written without knowledge of the Poplar Grove papers, and is therefore very sketchy on his early life and Maryland connections.

Henrietta Earle Emory (1814-1853) Third daughter of Thomas and Anna Maria. Married Rev. David Kerr.

Robert Emory (1815-1844) Third son of Thomas and Anna Maria. He attended Dickinson College and later went to sea, on a merchant voyage to the Indian Ocean and China. (Letters written home from this voyage are at Poplar Grove.) Robert died unmarried at the age of 28 and is buried at Poplar Grove.

Col. John Register Emory (1818-1880) Fourth son of Thomas and Anna Maria. He began a military career, but set it aside to move home and become a devoted steward of Poplar Grove.

John served as a lieutenant in Florida during the Second Seminole War in the late 1830s. Some of his military records, letters, and muster rolls are at Poplar Grove. He later (1846) raised a militia troop of cavalry in Queen Anne’s County at the outbreak of the war with Mexico, and then served as quartermaster of a division of the state militia.

Like his father, he was involved in trying to get a railroad line built down the Eastern Shore, and was active in various community activities.
 

Politically, John was a Democrat, serving as a delegate to the national convention in Charleston in 1860. He was also active as a colonel in the local militia after the 1859 raid on Harper’s Ferry by John Brown, and at the outbreak of the secession crisis. He attended the Maryland States Rights Convention in early 1861, and played a role in forwarding his brother William’s letter of resignation from the Army (later repented) to Washington.

John Register Emory was the mainstay of the Poplar Grove farm throughout the mid-19th century. In the 1850s, he apparently purchased his brother’s share in the estate for a considerable sum. The family’s fortunes seem to have continued thriving under his frugal management. The inventory of John’s estate conducted in 1880 indicates that at that time, Poplar Grove was “primarily a cash grain (i.e., wheat and corn) farm with a viable livestock component,” according to Jeremy Rothwell’s research.

John married Alice Gray Bourke (1828-1857), who died at the age of 29 after bearing four children (Edward B., Anna Maria, Alice Gray, and John R., Jr., aka “Jack,” who built the family house at neighboring Indiantown).

Albert Troup Emory (1821-1854) Fifth son of Thomas and Anna Maria. Farmer; married Sarah Winder and apparently died childless.

Augusta Forman Emory (1824-?) Fourth daughter of Thomas and Anna Maria.

Frederick Emory (1829-after 1893?) Sixth son of Thomas and Anna Maria. Apparently an adventurer, a gunslinger, a murderer, and a black sheep. Trained as a surveyor, he went to California during or perhaps even before the Gold Rush; some of his letters home are in the Poplar Grove papers. He was a friend and early business partner of the famous Col. John Sutter. In 1850, he participated as a “state volunteer” in a campaign against the Sacramento Indians; at an engagement on Bear River, he was accidentally shot through the thigh with a rifle ball, the only American casualty. (Eleven Indians were killed.)

Two years later, when the notorious “filibuster” (i.e., freelance military adventurer) William Walker invaded the Baja Peninsula and proclaimed the Republic of Lower California with himself as president, Frederick Emory accompanied him and was appointed Walker’s “Secretary of the Interior.” Emory was sent back to San Diego to get provisions and people to support the cause. Walker’s “republic” soon collapsed and he was arrested by U.S. forces for staging an illegal invasion of a foreign nation, but acquitted at a later trial.

Emory’s later history is even less savory. “Captain Frederick Emory” turns up in Kansas during the “Bleeding Kansas” troubles of the mid-1850s. He was then proprietor of a stagecoach line, and formed an infamous gang of pro-slavery “law and order” vigilantes (aka, “Regulators” or “Border Ruffians”) who attacked and abused anyone suspected of abolitionist sympathies.
 In 1856 he and his men murdered a famous antislavery lawyer, William Phillips, in cold blood at the doorway of his own house in Leavenworth, Kans. Emory was later captured by the authorities but almost immediately set free.

According to a discussion on an online genealogy forum, Frederick married and had several children (one a son named “Register”) and settled permanently in Leavenworth after the Civil War, disappearing from local records about 1893.

Blanchard Emory (1831-after 1900) Youngest child, and seventh son, of Thomas and Anna Maria. Married Mary Edwardine Bourke and lived at Bloomfield, the ancestral Bourke estate, which he was forced to sell out of the family due to financial hardship in the 1890s.

Generation 4:

Edward Bourke Emory (1849-1924) Elder son of Col. John Register Emory, he graduated from the University of Virginia in 1869 and inherited Poplar Grove upon his father’s death a decade later. He apparently tried to revive Poplar Grove’s fortunes as a stud farm. (His most successful stallion was a trotting horse called Happy Russell in the 1880s.) The farm declined under his management; according to a granddaughter, Edward had a problem with “the whiskey on the sideboard,” which made him “extremely irascible.”
 According to family tradition, he also had trouble paying taxes, and the farm may have been put up for auction and bought by his wife, who rented out the land to tenant farmers. (Edward, meanwhile, decamped to Salem, Va., where he continued to occupy himself with racehorses.)

Edward’s wife, whom he married in 1877, was Henrietta Tilghman (1855-1953), a longtime presence at Poplar Grove who is still remembered by the family as “Aunt Etta.” They had four children (Henrietta, Lloyd, Edward, Mary).

Alice Gray Emory (1855-1936) Youngest daughter of Col. John Register Emory and Alice G.B. Emory. Grew up at Poplar Grove and after her father’s death in 1880 settled at nearby Eversley. Married Harry Wilmer in 1883 and had four children (Harry, Chew, Pere, Phebe). Ancestor of the current owners of Poplar Grove, she is the subject of a book by Mary Wood, My Darling Alice: Based on Letters and Legends of an Eastern Shore Farm, 1837-1935 (2002).

Generation 5:

Lloyd Tilghman Emory (1882-1931) Elder son of Edward Bourke Emory. Topographical engineer. After a stint in the U.S. Coast Survey, graduated from the University of Pennsylvania in 1908. Later worked for Alcoa, and went to British Guiana in the 1920s in search of bauxite mines. Died in Spain. Married Alice Martenis (1901-1964) and had one son, Lloyd, Jr. He apparently did not live at Poplar Grove fulltime as an adult, though many of his papers and photographs are at the house.

Generation 6:

Lloyd Tilghman Emory, Jr. (1921-1999) Only son of Lloyd and Alice. Combat veteran of World War II, wounded in action. Earned a degree in horticulture from the University of Maryland; worked as a horticulturalist at Northwest Point Farm. Never married, but lived at Poplar Grove with his stepfather, Judge B. Hackett Turner, Jr. (1908-1992) and Judge Turner’s second wife, Dorothy Turner. Left Poplar Grove at his death to his second cousin once removed, James Wood (great-great-grandson of Col. John Register Emory) who farmed with his family at nearby Indiantown.

V. Related families

Note: These are all families whose papers have been found among those of the Emory family at Poplar Grove.

Hemsley

Notable family of planters and political leaders since the 17th century, when the first William Hemsley (c. 1633-1685; see Section II above) settled on the Eastern Shore in what was then Talbot County. By the early 18th century the family was settled at Cloverfields near Wye Mills, where their important 1730s house still stands. They prospered as wheat farmers. The family’s most notable member was William Hemsley (1737-1812), great-grandson of the original William, who was a zealous supporter of the American Revolution. William served as Treasurer of the Eastern Shore, Colonel of militia, longtime member of the Maryland legislature, and delegate to the Continental Congress (1782-3) as well as to the state’s convention to ratify the U.S. Constitution. William owned the Wye gristmill, and like many farmers in the area, he supplied wheat to the Continental Army during the war (at exorbitant prices). His daughter Anna Maria married Gen. Thomas Emory, and important Hemsley papers, including some Revolutionary-era letters to William from his cousin, the prominent political economist Tench Coxe, ended up at Poplar Grove.

Hawkins

A rich and powerful local family in the late 17th and early 18th centuries, they seem to have declined in wealth and influence by the time of the American Revolution, and moved to the Western Shore toward the end of the century. At one time they owned much of Spaniard Neck, including Brampton and Conquest, as well as the famous house known as Bowlingly in Queenstown, which they built in the 1730s. The first Emory to own Brampton, John Register Emory (1735-1790) was doubly connected to the Hawkinses: his maternal grandmother was Elizabeth Hawkins, and he married his cousin Juliatha Hawkins (daughter of Robert Hawkins, onetime owner of Brampton). It is possible that the oldest part of the Poplar Grove mansion was built by the Hawkinses.

Tilghman

A very large and well-known family on the Eastern Shore, established by Richard Tilghman (1626-1675), a Royal Navy surgeon who settled in America. He and his children lived at the farm called The Hermitage near Centreville, where descendants still live today. The clan’s most famous member was Col. Tench Tilghman (1744-1786), a Revolutionary officer and trusted aide-de-camp to General Washington throughout the war. The Tilghmans and Emorys were interconnected in multiple ways, and it is unclear how Tilghman family papers ended up at Poplar Grove, but many did, including a fragmentary bible with the circa-1740s bookplate of James Tilghman (1716-1793), father of Tench. An important colonial official in Pennsylvania, James (unlike Tench) was a prominent Loyalist. Another son of James, William Tilghman (1756-1827), served as Chief Justice of the Pennsylvania Supreme Court from 1805-1827. One of James’s brothers, Matthew Tilghman (1718-1780) was chairman of Maryland’s delegation to the First and Second Continental Congresses in 1774-6, and voted for the Declaration of Independence; he was a key leader in the colony’s transition to statehood. Many Tilghman family papers are in the Maryland Historical Society.

Bourke

Since the 18th century, the Bourkes had been settled at Bloomfield, a farm just north of Centreville along the main road (now Route 213). The house still stands, and was recently acquired by the Eastern Shore Land Conservancy. Two Bourke sisters married Emory brothers in the mid-19th century. Alice Gray Bourke (1828-1857) married John Register Emory, and her younger sister Mary Edwardine Bourke (1830-1907) married John’s younger brother, Blanchard Emory. The women were daughters of Edward G. Bourke, some of whose papers ended up at Poplar Grove. Late in her life (1900) Mary Edwardine published a nostalgic memoir of antebellum society in Queen Anne’s County.

VI. Illustrations
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Poplar Grove mansion, front view, 2003
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Poplar Grove mansion, side view with outbuildings, c. 1890s
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Col. John Hawkins (c. 1655-1717), early owner of Brampton (and Emory ancestor)
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Ernault Hawkins (c. 1710-1755?). He and his wife, Jane, lived at Brampton from the 1730s to the 1750s, and may have built the earliest part of the mansion
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Gen. Thomas Emory (1782-1842), c. 1830s
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Anna Maria Hemsley Emory (1787-1864), c. 1830s
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Gen. William Hemsley (“Bold”) Emory (1811-1887), c. 1860s
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Alice Gray Bourke Emory (1828-1857), c. 1850s

[image: image9.jpg]



Edward Bourke Emory (1849-1924), c. 1860s
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Alice Gray Emory Wilmer (1855-1936), c. 1890s
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Alice Gray Emory Wilmer with longtime family retainer Joanna Gee, circa 1910s. The two women are buried side-by-side in the Centreville cemetery.
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Two views of the 18th-century slave quarter at Poplar Grove, c. 1920s. This building is listed as a “Quarter” on the 1798 Federal Direct Tax survey.

[image: image14.jpg]



[image: image15.jpg]



The slave quarter in 2003 (with Washington College student Gina Ralston) and 2008
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An Emory family sailing excursion aboard the boat Reba Main, circa 1910s
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Boathouse (c. 1880s) at Poplar Grove, 2003
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Howard Wood (1916-2008) and James Wood with Washington College students in the Emory cemetery at Poplar Grove, 2003

VII. Maps
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[image: image23.wmf]
Detail of Eastern Shore from Augustine Herman’s map of the Chesapeake, 1673. Spaniard Neck is circled in red, next to “Coursy’s Cr” (Corsica Creek). The area south of the Chester River is still part of Talbot County. The only town in existence is Oxford, at bottom.
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Queen Anne’s County, including Chestertown, Church Hill, Centreville, etc. from the Dennis Griffith map of 1795. Spaniard Neck is circled in red.
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Spaniard Neck and the Emory farms, 1877, from Lake, Griffing, & Stevenson’s Atlas of Kent & Queen Anne’s Counties. The Poplar Grove mansion is the black square marked “Res” at the center, on the farm of Col. J.R. Emory. 
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Poplar Grove, from an 1857 survey plat commissioned by John Register Emory. Emory’s Cove is called “Bishop’s Cove.” Lands owned by “Wm. Emory” were probably once part of the Thomas Emory estate.
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Present-day Poplar Grove farm showing fields and outbuildings, as drawn by Jeremy Rothwell, 2005. 

VIII. Past research at Poplar Grove

In 1979 and 1981, Orlando Ridout V of the Maryland Historical Trust visited Poplar Grove and made preliminary notes on its architectural history, as well as a full report on the 18th-century slave quarter.

In 2002, Mary Wood, a member of the Emory family by marriage, published My Darling Alice: Based on Letters and Legends of an Eastern Shore Farm, 1837-1935, a partly fictionalized account based on family papers.

In the summer of 2003, Justin Gunn, a student at Washington College, received a fellowship from the C.V. Starr Center to begin organizing the Emory Papers at Poplar Grove. Working with Helen Wood, and Emory descendant, he began to sort the papers into acid-free boxes and folders, which remained onsite. Some of the oldest documents (mostly 17th-18th century land records and wills), which had been preserved in a 19th-century tin lard can, were filed in mylar holders with annotated cover sheets by Gunn and Wood, and stored offsite by the Wood family. Gunn and Wood also undertook research into the title history of the Emory lands, using both family papers and county and state land records, and left rough notes on their findings.

Also in the summer of 2003, Washington College’s archaeology program sponsored a six-week summer field school at Poplar Grove. Under the direction of John and Elizabeth Seidel, students excavated around the reputed 18th-century slave cabin. Most artifacts recovered dated between the early 19th and early 20th centuries. Surface finds elsewhere on the Poplar Grove property indicated likely 17th-century habitation. Extensive field notes, along with the artifacts, are stored at the Washington College Archaeology Lab (some of these were damaged by Hurricane Isobel in 2004). Teresa Fewlass, a Washington College alumna who served as site supervisor, is currently working on an anthropology master’s thesis on the Poplar Grove findings.

In 2005, Jeremy Rothwell, a student in the “Chestertown’s America” class at Washington College, wrote “The Emory Family at Poplar Grove: An Agricultural History,” focusing largely on the surviving late-19th and early-20th-century outbuildings and their uses.

In 2008, James Schelberg, a student in the “Chestertown’s America” class at Washington College, wrote “William Hemsley Emory: A New Look at an Old Soldier,” based partly on Emory papers from Poplar Grove.

� Survey conducted for John Register Emory, April 18, 1857, Emory/Wood family papers. These 608 acres may represent only half of Poplar Grove at its heyday, since it is likely that the lands immediately to the southwest were William H. Emory’s share of his father’s estate that were later reabsorbed (see Section III, below).


� According to family tradition and some published sources, the name change occurred because Brampton “sounded too British” after the Revolution. But it may also simply have to do with the consolidation of several farms into one large estate.


� Frederick Emory, Queen Anne’s County, Maryland: Its Early History and Development, p. 42.


� Plats.net. Family tradition holds that Brampton/Poplar Grove has been in the Emory family since the land was granted to Arthur Emory (“The Immigrant”) in about 1660. Research has shown that Arthur Emory, although he did own land in the area, including on the south side of the Chester River (and may perhaps have owned some of the land later absorbed into Poplar Grove) was not the original grantee of Brampton, and that the Emorys did not become associated with the property until nearly a century later. However, since William Hemsley was a direct ancestor of the Emorys (as was John Hawkins, the early-18th-century owner) it is definitely true that the land has been in the family of the current owners since the 1660s.


� A 6-acre tract was added in the 18th century to correct an early surveying error, so that Poplar Grove now comprises 256 acres.


� Archives of Maryland, Vol. 54.


� Archives of Maryland, Vol. 77.


� Hawkins genealogy online, � HYPERLINK "http://freepages.genealogy.rootsweb.ancestry.com/~markfreeman/hawkinst.html" ��http://freepages.genealogy.rootsweb.ancestry.com/~markfreeman/hawkinst.html�, accessed June 1, 2008. Judge John Sause of Centreville, related to the Hawkinses by marriage, reportedly has information on them and some 18th-century family portraits.


� Archives of Maryland, Vol. 700.


� Archives of Maryland, Vol. 701.


� Colonial Families of the Eastern Shore of Maryland, Vol. 3, p. 160.


� In any case, Charles was clearly a rogue, since his wealthy father’s will cut him off with just five shillings. (Ibid, p. 154.)


� Interestingly – and probably just by concidence – Thomas had recently married Anna Maria Hemsley, a direct descendant of Brampton’s original 1669 owner.





� Based partly on research notes made by Justin Gunn and Helen Wood from documents at Poplar Grove, in the Queen Anne’s County courthouse, and in the Maryland State Archives, summer 2003.


� See “Genealogical Notes on the Emory Family of Maryland,” Maryland Historical Magazine, December 1928, pp. 365-372. However, this article should be used with caution – it is often illogical and self-contradictory, and is also at odds with the current-day Emory family’s own typescript genealogy. The most reliable published source on the family is probably Barnes & Wright, eds., Colonial Families of the Eastern Shore of Maryland, Vol. 3.


� Colonial Families of the Eastern Shore of Maryland, Vol. 3, pp. 150-162.


� Archives of Maryland, Vol. 16; Clements and Wright, Maryland Militia in the Revolutionary War. According to the Emory genealogical article in the MHM, John Register Emory also “saw active service against Lord Dunmore and later took part in the battle of Long Island” (i.e., in 1775-6).


� Juliatha was the daughter of Robert Hawkins, who had owned Brampton in the 1740s, so it is possible that the property came to John Register Emory via his first wife rather than via his adoptive father; see sections II and III above.


� Emory family genealogy, typescript.


� Earle’s name appears in a copy of Blackstone’s Commentaries that he presented to Emory as a young man.


� Frederick Emory, Queen Anne’s County, p. 376. 


� Ibid, p. 387.


� Ibid, pp. 430 ff.


� Ibid, p. 425.


� Ibid, p. 444.


� Ibid, pp. 470-1.


� Jefferson Davis’s paternal grandmother was born Mary Emory, so it is possible, though unproven, that he and William were cousins. Clearly they were close in later life.


� James Schelberg, “William Hemsley Emory: A New Look at an Old Soldier,” unpublished paper, Washington College, 2008.


� Jeremy Rothwell, “The Emory Family at Poplar Grove: An Agricultural History,” unpublished essay, Washington College, 2005.


� Rothwell, op. cit. This paper reconstructs in detail the late-19th-century farm. 


� John Frost, History of the State of California (Auburn, NY 1851), p. 226. Emory is described explicitly in this book as “brother of Major Emory, United States Topographical Engineers of the boundary Commission.”


� Pardee Butler, Personal Recollections of Pardee Butler (Cincinnati, 1889), Chapter XIX.


� A detailed account of this incident is in William G. Cutler, History of the State of Kansas (Chicago, 1883).


� http://boards.ancestry.com/surnames.emory/16/mb.ashx


� Mildred Persinger, unsigned notes on a phone conversation provided by Wood family, dated March 28, 1999.


� Rothwell, op. cit.


� Ibid.


� Mary Burke [sic] Emory, Colonial Families and Their Descendants (Baltimore, 1900).


� Most of the black-and-white photos in this section are from My Darling Alice: Based on Letters and Legends of an Eastern Shore Farm, 1837-1935, and are included with permission of Mary Wood. 
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